# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 1 3 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

In re the Marriage of Sheryl Jones Davis and Keith Xavier Davis	) CASE NO.: S215050	Deputy	
SHERYL JONES DAVIS, Respondent,	) First District Court of Appea A136858	ıl Case No.	
vs.	) Superior Court No. RF 08 42 ) Alameda County	28441	
KEITH XAVIER DAVIS,  Appellant			

## PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division One, Case no. A136858

Appeal From Bifurcated Order of the Alameda County Superior Court Commissioner Elizabeth Hendrickson Presiding

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

As per this Court's February 11, 2014 order granting review, the issue before this Court is "For the purpose of establishing the date of separation under Family Code section 771, may a couple be living 'separate and apart' when they reside in the same residence."

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This Court granted review following the First District Court of Appeal's affirmance of a bifurcated order of the Alameda County Superior Court regarding date of separation. In that order, the trial court held that the parties had separated as of June 1, 2006, even though wife did not file for dissolution or separation until December 2008 and continued to reside in the family home until July 2011. The First District affirmed. In so doing, that court specifically disagreed with the rule in *In re Marriage of Norviel* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 1152, 1162 that "living apart physically is an indispensable threshold requirement to separation...."

And yet this bright-line rule is not only consistent with the plain language of Family Code section 771; it is the only workable rule given the importance of date of separation in determining property rights and length of marriage for purposes of spousal support. This is particularly true in long marriages that may undergo significant periods of upheaval and strife before finally coming to an end.

This Court should determine that a couple may **not** be deemed living separate and apart for purposes of Family Code section 771 while they continue to reside under the same roof. In the alternative, this Court may craft a limited exception for rare and specific instances in which the couple has undergone a physical separation within the same residence that is <u>qualitatively different</u> than a physical separation they experienced during the marriage, which physical separation is contemporaneous with a subjective intent to separate and communicated to the other spouse.

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

Appellant Keith Xavier Davis ("Xavier") and Respondent Sheryl Davis ("Sheryl")<sup>1</sup> were married on June 12, 1993. (PR 1.)<sup>2</sup> They have two children born in 1995 and 1999. (PR 1.)

The parties stopped being sexually intimate in 1999 and did not share a bedroom after January 2004. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 31; PR 26.) They did not even go on a "date" after 1999. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 34.)

In 2001, Xavier was earning approximately \$180,000 per year and Sheryl was earning about \$115,000. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 35.)

Since 2003 Sheryl had a separate bank account that she used to manage her business funds and for personal uses. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 83-84.)

As of January 2006, Xavier began working for Clorox, earning \$240,000 annually. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 11; PR 26.) During that time, he put his earnings into his own separate bank account, but deposited \$3,200 per month into a joint account to pay household bills. (RT 1/10/12 at pp. 11, 14; PR 26-27.) Xavier left Clorox in September 2006. (PR 27.) At the time of trial, he was self-employed and worked from home. (PR 27.)

As of June 2006, Sheryl had been unemployed for six months. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 76.) During that time, she was working as an independent contractor, earning about \$3,000 to \$4,000 per month. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 75.) In July 2006, she began working as a salaried employee, earning \$138,000 per year, or \$11,500 per month. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 75-76.)

On June 1, 2006, Sheryl announced her intent to end the marriage. On that date, she presented Xavier with a "financial ledger" because she wanted to share

<sup>1/</sup> The parties are referred to as "Xavier" and "Sheryl" for convenience. No disrespect is intended.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/ "PR" refers to the Partial Record on appeal Xavier filed on October 19, 2102.

<sup>&</sup>quot;AR" refers to Appellant's Augmented Record on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>quot;AR Sheryl" refers to Respondent's Augmented Record on Appeal.

community expenses equally but be solely responsible for respective personal expenses. (PR 27.) In July 2006, Sheryl set up a separate bank account "to segregate the financial aspect of the relationship." (RT 5/2/12 at p. 83.)

Thereafter, Sheryl continued to live in the home with Xavier; continued to keep her personal belongings in the home; continued to receive mail and telephone calls at the home; and continued to cook meals at the home. (PR 27.)

Sheryl filed for dissolution on December 30 2008. (PR 1, 27.) Therein she listed the date of separation as June 1, 2006. (Ibid.) On February 2, 2009, Xavier filed a response, stating the date of separation was January 2, 2009. (PR 3.)

Sheryl remained in the family home until July 2011. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 76-77; PR 27-28.) Her physical living arrangements remained the same during that time, other than what she described as the non-consolidation of their finances. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 77.) Prior to either claimed date of separation, the parties sometimes went to dinner and vacation together, and sometimes separately, and had not shared a bed for years. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 96.)

The issue of the date of separation was bifurcated from the other issues and tried separately. (See PR 47.) During trial, Xavier filed an Amended Response in which he listed the date of separation as July 1, 2011—the approximate date that Sheryl moved from the marital residence. (PR 27.)

The testimony as to date of separation was disputed. Xavier introduced photographs of the parties dining together and going to San Francisco as a family in 2008 and 2009. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 22-25; AR at pp. 55-60.) He testified the parties continued to celebrate Christmas together as a family and that Christmas of 2010 was the first year they did not exchange gifts. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 30-31.) He testified that the marriage was really no different after June 2006 than it was previously; the only real difference was the ledger. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 33-34 ["everything other than the ledger was pretty much the same."])

Sheryl described the marriage as "very turbulent...probably two years after the marriage." (RT 1/10/12 at pp. 30-31.) She had determined back in March

2000 that the marriage could not be saved and that they only stayed together for the children. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 40.) She stated that the marriage was a "façade" for about 10 years—since March 2000. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 55.) She testified that there were "a lot of...significant events" that caused her to believe the marriage was over, including her moving out of the bedroom in 2004; Xavier having quit his job with Whittman-Hart in March 2001 (see RT 1/10/12 at p. 11); Xavier having allegedly assaulted her in October 2005; and Xavier's decision to only contribute \$3,250 of his monthly earnings into the joint account. (RT 1/10/12 at pp. 30-33.) She testified that the October 2005 incident was "the final straw." (RT 1/10/12 at p. 56.) Sheryl testified that things changed in October 2005 when Xavier assaulted her, and then changed even more in January 2006 when he started earning \$240,000 per year, but only put \$3,200 per month in the joint account. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 87.) She testified that in June 2006, she told Xavier "this is done," she was through, and that she would only be contributing her income up to 50% of the joint household expenses into the joint account. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 32.) She developed a spreadsheet itemizing the household expenses, for which each of them was equally responsible, and the rest of their respective earnings they could spend as they pleased. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 32-33.) She provided Xavier with a ledger and told him that each of them would pay 50% of the household expenses, and that they would each pay for their own expenses from their own income. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 88.) In July 2006, Sheryl set up a separate bank account "to segregate the financial aspect of the relationship." (RT 5/2/12 at p. 83.) She stated that the "last component that anyone could call a marriage would be the finances, because there was nothing else at that point that dictated or indicated that we had a marriage." (RT 1/10/12 at p. 34.) She said the "last piece that...could bind us as a family was the finances, the credit cards, vacations and any social events. And once I had that conversation with him in June, that was it...it was clear that my intent was to separate from this marriage in the direction of a divorce and that's what I did." (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 87-88.)

Sheryl testified that her living conditions after June 2006 "were different from the perspective that we no longer consolidated our finances." (RT 1/10/12 at p. 34.) The physical living arrangements between the parties remained the same after June 1, 2006: Sheryl continued to live in the home, keep her clothes and belongings in the home, and eat family meals in the home unless she was traveling for work. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 20, 57-59; PR 27.) She did not move out until 2011. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 76-77; PR 27.) Her physical living arrangements remained the same during that time. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 77.) After June 1, 2006, Sheryl continued to deposit money into the parties' joint account for household expenses. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 71-72; see AR 66-68.)

On March 24, 2007, Xavier sent Sheryl a lengthy email. (See RT 1/10/12 at p. 9; AR Sheryl at p. 21b.) He explained that Sheryl had "basically announced [she was] going to stop putting money into the account [they] shared for almost 14 years," that there had been no discussion, and Sheryl had made this "rather significant change" when she was generating income and Xavier no longer was. (RT 1/10/12 at pp. 10-11.) Xavier stated, "...your motives are clear. But until we are engaged in dissolution we both need to be selfless to protect our children's perspective of family." (RT 1/10/12 at p. 23.) At trial, Xavier described this email as "a husband venting to his wife." (RT 1/10/12 at p. 23.)

The parties continued to do things together as a family after June 1, 2006. They continued to celebrate special occasions together, including the children's and each other's birthdays. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 23-25, 65; AR 55-60.) Both before and after June 1, 2006 the parties went on vacations together and apart. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 96.) They went to Hawaii together as a family in August 2006. (PR 27.) Sheryl testified that because it was prepaid and they did not want to disappoint the children, and that thereafter, each of Sheryl and Xavier took the children on vacations separately. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 35.) But they all visited Sheryl's family in the winter of 2007-2008. (RT 1/10/12 at p. 23; PR 27.) And Sheryl admitted that Xavier typically continued to invite her on vacations,

although she did not go. (RE 1/10/12 at p. 55.) In fact, the children had no knowledge of the parties' relationship until June 2011—just before Sheryl moved out of the home. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 68-69.)

Sheryl continued to use the email address xavierwife@aol.com in 2008 and at least through February 18, 2009. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 61-62, 64; AR 63-64.) She testified that she kept this email address because when she went to change it she did not have the password, and only changed the address when her friend set up a new account for her. (RT 5/2/12 at pp. 80-81.)

Ultimately, the trial court held that the date of separation was June 1, 2006. (RT 5/2/12 at p. 98; PR 49-50.) It held that (1) Sheryl had consistently maintained June 1, 2006 (or possibly July 1, 2006) as the date of separation, while Xavier asserted it was January 2, 2009, then later argued July 1, 2011; (2) prior to even June 1, 2006, they sometimes went to dinner together, vacationed together and separately, had not shared a bedroom for a number of years, and characterized the marriage as dysfunctional; (3) the parties had email exchanges around June 2006; (4) their one remaining thing they did together, which was share finances, changed in June 2006; (5) the decision about finances was significant and intentional; and (6) no case law supports a claimed date of separation 1½ years after dissolution was filed. (PR 49-50; see also RT 5/2/12 at pp. 95-98.)

On October 25, 2013, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed in a published opinion. On February 11, 2014, this Court granted review on the issue of whether, under Family Code section 771, a couple may be "living separate and apart" when they reside in the same residence.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Date of separation is a factual issue to be determined by a preponderance of the evidence." (In re Marriage of Manfer (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 925, 930, citing In re Marriage of Peters (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1487, 1493-1494.) Appellate review is thus "limited to determining whether the court's factual

determinations are supported by substantial evidence and whether the court acted reasonably in exercising its discretion." (Manfer, supra at p. 930, citing In re Marriage of De Guigne (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1353, 1360.)

Nevertheless, where the facts are undisputed, a trial court's application of law to those facts is reviewed de novo. (See, e.g., *Marriage of Manfer, supra* at pp. 928-929, 933 [reviewing date of separation as legal issue]; see also *In re Marriage of von der Nuell* (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 730, 736.) The issue of whether a couple may be living "separate and apart" under Family Code section 771 when they continue to share a residence is obviously a legal decision for this Court.

#### V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

# A. Parties Cannot Be Deemed "Living Separate and Apart" When They Continue to Share a Residence

#### 1. A bright-line rule is important if not essential

Pursuant to statute, the date of separation is the date on which the parties are living "separate and apart." (Fam.Code §771.) The "statutory phrase 'living separate and apart' has been the subject of only a handful of published opinions in this state." (*In re Marriage of Norviel* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 1152, 1161-1162 Citations omitted.) The issue herein is what constitutes "separate and apart."

In 2002, the Sixth District in *Norviel* created a bright-line rule that parties cannot live together and yet be separated. (*Id.* at p. 1162 ["Decisional law thus clearly establishes that parties may live apart and yet not be separated. The question here is whether the reverse is also true. We conclude it is not."]) That Court specifically held that, in the absence of what it termed "unambiguous, objectively ascertainable conduct amounting to a <u>physical separation under the same roof</u>" parties could <u>not</u> be deemed living separate and apart under Family Code section 771 while they lived in the same house. (*Id.* at p. 1164, emphasis added.) "Living separate and apart...applies to a condition where the spouses

have come to a parting of the ways and have no present intention of resuming the marital relations and taking up life together *under the same roof.*" (*Norviel, supra* at p. 1162, citation omitted; italics in *Norviel*.) "By at least one creditable definition, 'living separate and apart' means 'residing in different places and having no intention of resuming marital relations." (*Ibid*, citing Black's Law Dict. (7th ed. 1999) p. 945, italics in *Norviel*.)

This bright-line rule has been the law in this state since 2002. It has not been superseded or even modified by the Legislature, despite Norviel's request the Legislature do so if it believed a more flexible rule was appropriate. Respondent therein had argued that a rule requiring separate dwellings as a predicate to separation "could preclude California's less affluent couples from establishing a date of separation and ending the accumulation of community property." (Id at p. 1163.) The Norviel Court stated that such argument "flies in the face of the strong presumption of community property that generally applies in this state." (Id at pp. 1163-1164 [citations omitted].) It further stated "that unfortunate state of affairs is not a sufficient basis for courts to ignore a clear statutory mandate," and that the policy argument "is more appropriately directed to the Legislature." (Id. at p. 1164.) Despite this clear invitation, in the intervening 12 years, the Legislature has not amended Family Code section 771(a) to address this concern. Such is a fairly clear directive from this State's lawmakers that Norviel's interpretation of section 771(a) that living separate and apart requires separate dwellings is correct and should be followed. Permitting trial courts to find that couples are living "separate and apart" under Family Code section 771 while they continue to live together would be an unwarranted amendment to Family Code section 771(a).

Bright-line rules provide clear directives and guidance to judges and a measure of predictability to attorneys and litigants. They create uniformity among courts in the dispensing of justice and the enforcement of statutes. This encourages an understanding that laws are applied fairly, without undue subjectivity that allows certain people to be treated differently than others.

The standard created by the First District in this case, permitting the trier of fact to draw "reasonable inferences from all evidence presented" (Slip Op. at p. 11) to determine whether a couple is living separate and apart is simply unworkable. Family courts already have enough difficulty trying to determine date of separation in contested cases without the standard for "living separate and apart" to include couples who continue to live together. While the existence of separate residences is easy enough to prove, the existence of objective conduct evidencing "a final break in the marriage" and trying to determine when that occurred based upon the totality of the circumstances is not. Requiring each of the hundreds of family-law judges in this state to decide for themselves what constitutes "living separate and apart" based upon "reasonable inferences" without at least requiring that the parties no longer live together is unfair to the courts and to litigants. Requiring at least that the couple be residing separately provides a black and white in the murky sea of grays surrounding so many family-law issues.

Family Code section 771 requires that the parties be living separate and apart in order for earnings thereafter to be separate. This can be a very important consideration where, as here, the earnings of one spouse during the time at issue are substantial. (See *Marriage of Norviel, supra* 102 Cal.App.4th at p. 1158.) This is because "property acquired during a legal marriage is strongly presumed to be community property and that presumption is fundamental to the community property system." (*In re Marriage of Von der Nuell* (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 730, 734.) Moreover, a marriage lasting 10 or more years is presumptively a "long marriage." (Fam.Code §4336(b).) Thus, date of separation can be a very important factor in dividing community property and setting spousal support. This is already an amorphous concept that requires judges to make credibility determinations and weigh evidence; allowing "living separate and apart" to include "living together" does not assist judges in their task.

Moreover, unless such a physical separation is required for a married couple to be "living separate and apart," one spouse—typically the higher-earning

spouse—can easily manipulate the finances in a bad marriage by "back-dating" the date of separation upon filing for dissolution to a date during which the parties continued to reside together but the marriage was rocky and difficult. If such is accepted by the court, the higher-earning spouse will thus retain a significant portion of what the other spouse believed were community earnings. Permitting one spouse to "backdate" the date of separation—particularly to the date on which he or she began earning substantial sums—would allow that spouse to erode the community without the other's knowledge. Thus the higher-earning spouse may continue to reap the benefits of living in the home—eating meals, doing laundry, and receiving mail—and then years later, upon filing for dissolution, refer back to other, more subtle conduct as evidencing a "breakdown" in the marriage and claim that all earnings from that day forward are separate. Moreover, such may avoid the presumption of a long-term marriage. This will only further erode the concept of community property and disadvantage the lower-earning spouse. (See, e.g., *In re Marriage of Baragry* (1977) 73 Cal.App.3d 444, 446-449.)

Here, it was undisputed that throughout most of the marriage, Sheryl and Xavier were more like roommates than a married couple. But many married couples live like "roommates" for years—especially couples like Xavier and Sheryl who have high-powered careers and young children. Many long-term marriages look more like a business than a romance novel. This does not mean the couple is no longer married. It does not terminate community property rights. To the contrary, such couples continue to be married, and continue to acquire community property and community debts.

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