# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re the Marriage of Sheryl Jones Davis and Keith Xavier Davis	) CASE NO.: S215050
SHERYL JONES DAVIS,	) First District Court of Appeal Case No. A136858
Respondent,	)
v	)
	) Alameda County Superior Court
KEITH XAVIER DAVIS,	Case No. RF08428441
Appellant.	) )
	SUPREME COURT
After a Decision by the	Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division	One, Case No. A136858 MAY 1.5 2014
Superior Court, Alan Case No. RF 08	3428441
Commissioner Elizabeth He	endrickson Presiding
	(8.25(b))

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

The First District in this underlying case appropriately found the dissenting opinion of Justice Bamattre-Manoukian to be compelling. (Slip Op. at p. 11 ¶3.) "[A] rule that would require that

conduct be absolutely 'contemporaneous' with the expression of intent unduly restricts the trial court's ability to weigh all of the evidence of the parties' conduct." (*Norviel, supra,* 102 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1167 (dis. opn. of Bamattre-Manoukian, Acting P.J.).)

This Court should reject under *Norviel* the "imposition of a standard by which the trial court must find the parties' conduct to be 'unambiguous, objectively ascertainable conduct amounting to a physical separation. . . . The court must be allowed to consider all conduct and other factors bearing on either party's intentions to return or not to return to the marital relationship." (*Id.* at p. 1167-1168.)

The fact finder should be entitled to draw reasonable inferences from all of the evidence presented and not just from the application of a bright-line rule. "Where the evidence is subject to different inferences, we must accept the inferences reasonably drawn by the trial court in support of the judgment." (*Id.* at p. 1168; citing *Hotaling v. Hotaling* (1924) 193 Cal. 368, 379.)

3. The appropriate approach for determining what is "living separate and apart" is to examine a totality of the circumstances.

Xavier's assertion that it would be difficult enough for family courts to determine the date of separation in contested cases if a couple reside in the same residence underestimates the abilities these judges exercise on a daily basis. (AOB, p. 9 ¶1.)

In making findings and rendering decisions, including a bifurcated issue in determining the date of separation, family law

courts consider all the oral and documentary evidence, the testimony, the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, the written and oral arguments of counsel, the materials submitted by the parties, and the pleadings, papers, and other documents filed with the Court. A totality of the circumstances approach allows family law courts to determine when spouses are "living separate and apart" from each other under Family Code section 771 by taking all of the facts into consideration and weighing them. Family law courts must be allowed to consider all the facts and the context in order to conclude from the whole picture a couple's the date of separation under Family Code section 771. Family law courts must be permitted to draw "reasonable inferences from all evidence presented" (Slip Op. at 11 ¶3.) in determining when a couple is living separate and apart from one another. To amend Family Code section 771 by mandating that a couple must live physically in separate residences as an indispensable threshold requirement to establishing their date of separation would be harsh, unduly rigid, and would unnecessarily chip away the discretion of a family law court when determining issues before it.

For family law courts to adopt a bright-line rule regarding what is "living separate and apart" under Family Code section 771 would be overly simplistic and would lead to harsh results unjustly. A typical spouse in California, for example, may face further financial difficulties simply by being required to move out of the marital residence as a prerequisite to establishing the date of separation rather than intentionally and meaningfully living as roommates at the same

residence, while taking the necessary steps to untangle any outstanding financial, legal and social ties incident to that spouse's decision to terminate the marriage.

In addition, *Norviel* was decided in 2002, at a time when many issues facing society in California then, as a whole, differed from what family law courts often find today. Family law courts may find, for example, a higher quantity of spouses living separate and apart from one another as roommates while they reside in the same residence, while at the same time losing this residence to foreclosure, due to job losses or other economic factors. Family law courts may find, as another example, a greater quantity of spouses consciously living separate and apart from one another while they share the same residence in order to co-parent their children, for their children's well-being. Further, a spouse may find from family law courts that there are no grounds available to obtain move-away orders from the Court against the other spouse prior to the filing of an action for dissolution of marriage or legal separation in order to establish a date of separation under Family Code section 771.

It is important to note that family law attorneys may advise their clients not to be the spouse / parent to move out of the family home for fear that doing so could affect the determination of child custody. (CEB, California Child Custody Litigation and Practice (Cal CEB 2006, updated through 2012, §1.31.)

Family Code section 771 does not require "physical separation" and no other statute requires that parties physically live at separate

addresses to be considered as separated.

Xavier's assertion that "[p]ermitting one spouse to 'backdate' the date of separation," thereby allowing "that spouse to erode the community without the other's knowledge" (AOB, p. 10 ¶1.) is disingenuous. Xavier claims that the "higher-earning spouse" would continue to reap the benefits of living at home and later "refer back to other, more subtle conduct as evidencing a 'breakdown' in the marriage and claim that all earnings from that day are separate." (AOB, p. 10 ¶1.) This claim is, also, disingenuous.

There is nothing subtle about one spouse telling the other spouse "Listen, this is done, you know, I am through. This is a final straw of our marriage. We are done." (Slip Op. at p. 2 ¶5; RT 1/10/12 32:2-23.) There is nothing subtle about one spouse telling the other spouse that she cannot continue to pretend with this charade of a marriage. (RT 1/10/12 33:24-26.) There is nothing subtle about one spouse telling the other spouse the she will continue contributions for her one-half share of the household expenses, commencing June 1, 2006. (Slip Op. at p.5 ¶4; RT 1/10/12 32:23-25.) There is nothing subtle about developing and presenting to the other spouse, at the time of announcing her intent to end the marriage, a financial ledger itemizing every known and anticipated household expense as well as anticipated expenses for the children, and informing the other spouse that these expenses are to be divided 50/50. (Slip Op. at p. 5¶4; 1/10/12 32:26-28, 37:19-22; RT 5/2/12 88:6-12; PR Sheryl 24; PR Sheryl 76 ¶10.) There is nothing subtle

about preparing a financial ledger for yourself and the other spouse each month, based on actual bills and projected bills that have not yet come in. (RT 5/2/12 73:3-4; PR Sheryl 24.) There is nothing subtle about a spouse terminating her usage of credit cards and charge cards for which she is a secondary, authorized user as well as removing her spouse as an authorized user for her own American Express charge card. (Slip Op. at p. 6 \( \frac{9}{2} \); RT \( \frac{1}{10} \)/12 \( 36:15-19 \), \( 36:20-25 \); RT \( 5/2/12 \) 84:10-14; PR Sheryl 25-42.) There is nothing subtle about a spouse intentionally declining invitations by the other spouse to go on vacations, after the pre-planned Hawaiian vacation with and for their children in August, 2006 (a trip which the spouses agreed to continue for the benefit of the children). (Slip Op. at p.6 ¶4; RT 1/10/12 35:2-5; RT 5/2/12 85:22-27.) For the purpose of establishing the date of separation under Family Code 771, a couple may be "living separate and apart" when they reside in the same residence. One spouse or both spouses may engage in conduct that demonstrates as well as reasonably infers that they are no longer part of the community for purposes of maintaining community property.

Here, there was no "scheme" (AOB, p. 11 ¶3) on the part of Sheryl to confuse or manipulate Xavier into believing that the marriage continued after June 1, 2006. She did not obscure her intent to end the marriage. She did not obscure any of her conduct that the marriage was over - she was done. Sheryl asked Xavier to move out and he refused. (RT 5/2/12 58:26-28, 59:1-2.) He told her he would not be leaving the house. (RT 5/2/12 58:2-28; 59:1-2.) She continued

to reside in the same house as the residence was as much hers as it was his. (RT 5/2/12 59:9-12, 76:7-8.) Sheryl maintained little contact with Xavier while she was at the home, retreating to the guest room while she was there (RT 5/2/12 60:17-20), unless the children begged her to come out of the guest bedroom and participate in various family interactive activities, which was often. (RT 5/2/12 60:22-25.) There are neither facts nor reasonable inferences available to support Xavier's claim that he remained committed to their marriage, "bound by his emotions, family, and religious beliefs" (AOB, p. 11 ¶3) to continue the marriage and after Sheryl declared her intent to end the marriage, engaging in conduct towards ending the marriage.

Xavier asserts that Sheryl leveraged "the technical requirements of the law for economic gain." (AOB, p. 11 ¶3.) Xavier discredits the fact that, on June 1, 2006, he was earning \$20,000 per month in salary while Sheryl was earning a range of \$3,000 to \$4,000 per month as an independent contractor. (Slip Op. at p. 2 ¶3; RT 5/2/12 75:15-16.) Sheryl was earning far less than Xavier on June 1, 2006 and thus, her intent, words, and action to end the marriage on June 1, 2006 were not done for financial gain.

4. Family law courts should be allowed to determine that a couple may be "living separate and apart" under Family Code section 771 when they reside in the same residence and have abandoned the relationship in every

## meaningful way.

As discussed above in Part V. C. 2., above, application of a bright-line rule requested by Xavier, mandating that spouses must be living in separate residences in order to establish the date of marital separation, restricts family law courts from drawing reasonable inferences from and all of the evidence presented and considering all conduct and other factors bearing on a party's intentions to return or not return to the marital relationship. It should not be determinative where the parties live. The real question is how the parties live and "whether the parties' conduct evidences a complete and final break in the marital relationship." (In re Marriage of Baragry, supra, 73 Cal. App. 3d at 448.)

The First District herein, in affirming the lower court, determined in its analysis of cases *In re Marriage of Hardin* (1995) 38 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 448 and *In re Marriage of Manfer* (2006) 144 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 925 that "physical separation is but one factor to consider in determining the date of separation." (Slip. Op. at p.9 ¶4 - p. 10 ¶1.) Physical separation should not be an "essential manifestation" in determining whether a couple is living separate and apart. (AOB, p. 14 ¶2.)

In its opinion, the court observed in *Hardin*: "Maintenance of separate residences is not necessarily indicative of separation." *Hardin, supra*, at p. 454, fn. 5.) Under the facts of *Hardin*, fourteen years went by between 1969, when the husband left the family residence, and 1983, the year their marriage was dissolved. Even

though the parties physically lived in separate residences during this fourteen year time period, they continued to see each other regularly, they acquired real property together, and their economic relationship remained unchanged. (Hardin, supra, at p. 454.) Also during this fourteen year period, the wife continued on as a corporate officer in the family business and "signed, at [husband's] request, all documents presented to her in connection with this business. Bank documents executed in 1982 indicated they were married and not separated and all of their property was community." (Hardin, supra, at p. 454.) (italics added.) Further, it was determined that the lower court failed to consider other significant events regarding the husband's intentions to end the marriage. (Hardin, supra, at p. 454.) The husband testified at trial, for example, that "he did not make the decision to end his marriage until between early 1982 and early 1983." (Hardin, supra, at p. 454.) In addition, the husband "never disclosed to any person, including [wife], that he intended to end the marriage by divorce until January of 1983 and he sent her many cards in which he wrote: 'Love,' 'All my love,' 'Your loving husband,' 'I'll straighten out some day,' and 'You deserve lots of sympathy for putting up with me." (Hardin, supra, at p. 454.) Also, it was determined that the lower court failed to make findings on significant disputed facts, such as the extent of their relationship. The wife was a hostess at various business functions for those fourteen years, including picnics and an annual Christmas party. (Hardin, supra, at pp. 454-455.) The wife also sent Christmas cards annually to their

family business employees on behalf of herself and the husband for those fourteen years. (*Hardin, supra*, at p. 455.) The Fourth District in *Hardin* reversed the lower court because the lower court erred in concluding the appropriate standard as "'[w]ould society at large deem the couple to be separated based upon the facts and based upon the evidence [presented]?" (*Hardin, supra*, at p. 450.)

In *Manfer*, the husband moved out of the family home and into an apartment he had previously rented after approximately thirty-one years of marriage, and the wife, in her mind, determined "the stormy marriage was finally over." (Manfer, supra, at p. 928.) Both spouses decided together not to tell their children, family, and friends they were getting a divorce. (Manfer, supra, at p. 928.) In order to keep up appearances, they continued "to have sporadic social contacts and take an occasional trip together, but they did not engage in sexual relations with one another, commingle their funds, or support one another." (Manfer, supra, at p. 928.) The appellate court found the trial court to have erroneously concluded "that regardless of the parties' subjective intentions and the objective evidence relating thereto, the date of separation depends on whether society at large would consider the parties separated." (Manfer, supra, at p. 927.) The trial court found a later date of separation as being when the Manfers began telling other people that they were getting a divorce, The appellate court reversed the decision. It was not a question of what society at large would have perceived being the Manfers' date of separation but what the subjective intent to end the marriage was,

as "objectively determined from all of the evidence reflecting the parties' words and actions during the disputed time. . . . " (Manfer, supra, at p. 930.)

Contrary to Xavier's assertion, a couple residing in separate residences is not an "essential manifestation" in determining when spouses are "living separate and apart." (AOB, p. 14 ¶2.) Sheryl has demonstrated that a couple can live separate and apart from one another even when residing in the same residence, as roommates, and for Sheryl and Xavier, as co-parents of their children.

The First District herein, in affirming the lower court, correctly determined that "while the cases summarized above involve spouses who had already moved out of the family home while continuing to maintain ongoing financial and social relations, thereby evidencing a lack of true marital separation, we see no reason why the inverse rationale can not be applied to a spouse who continues to live in the family home but who, in every meaningful way, has abandoned the marital relationship. In this respect, we disagree with the bright-line drawn by the majority in Norviel, and find the dissenting opinion by Justice Bamattre-Manoukian to be compelling." (Slip Op. at p. 11 \$\\$3.) (Italics added.)

Sheryl has demonstrated that a spouse can continue to live in the family home while having abandoned the marital relationship in every meaningful way. She lived with Xavier as roommates once she declared that the marriage was over on June 1, 2006. After June 1, 2006, the parties changed the way they managed their finances with the implementation and use of the financial ledger. The change in the management of their finances was significant in the parties' conduct regarding their date of separation.

5. This Court should not adopt the application of a bright-line rule regarding Family Code section 771, subdivision (a), merely because other states may support a bright-line rule.

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